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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated
group comprising migme Limited (formerly Latin Gold Limited) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“migme Limited” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the auditor's report thereon.

migme Limited has changed its year end from 30 June to 31 December following the merger of Project
Goth, Inc. and Latin Gold Limited. Accordingly the information disclosed is for the 12 months ended 31
December 2014 and 31 December 2013, unless stated otherwise.

Directors

Mr. Howard Dawson Chairman

Mr. Steven Goh Executive Director & CEO (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) Pan Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Mr. Dmitry Levit Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. Andi Zain Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. John Lee Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Dr. Yichin Lee Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. John Macdonald Non-Executive Director (resigned on 8 August 2014)

Mr. Jim Malone Non-Executive Director (resigned on 28 January 2014)
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)
(alternate Director to Mr

Dmitry Levit)

Mr. Michael Higginson Company Secretary (resigned as a Director on 8 August 2014)

Mr. Dawson was the only Director to hold office from the start of the financial year to the date of this report.
Mr. Malone resigned as a Director on 28 January 2014. Messrs Macdonald and Higginson resigned as
Directors on 8 August 2014. All other Directors were appointed during the financial year on the dates set out

above,

Details of the Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are set out below,
Howard Dawson (Non-Executive Chairman)

Howard Dawson was appointed to the Board in December 2003. Mr Dawson had an 11 year career as a
geologist before entering the securities industry as a research analyst in 1987. Over the subsequent 20 years
he fulfilled a number of complimentary roles within the securities industry including research, corporate
advisory, business development and management for firms including Hartley Poynton, McIntosh Securities,

Merrill Lynch and ABN AMRO Morgan's Limited.

Responsibilities: Mr Dawson is Chairman of the risk committee and a member of the audit committee.




Qualifications: Bachelor of Science (Geology)
SFFINSIA, MAIG

Directorships: Discovery Capital Limited - Executive Chairman

Past directorships.  Tangiers Petroleum Limited — Non-Executive Director
Nevada Iron Limited — Non-Executive Chairman

Dampier Gold Limited — alternate Non-Executive Director
Steven Goh (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed 8 August 2014)

Steven is the CEO and co-founder of migme, founded in Australia, built up in Silicon Valley with top tier
venture capitalists, and then moved to Singapore. He has extensive experience in developing and
commercialising compelling internet services for consumers & fundraising. Over the past 20 years, Steven
has also founded Sanford Securities (Australia's first online stockbroking company and a leader in its time),
established Bell Direct (one of Australia's largest online wealth management companies), advised a number
of Start-ups, been involved with a number of Incubators and been involved with many other organisations
(ranging from stock exchanges, investment banks, to consumer internet businesses) throughout Australia,
USA, Europe and Asia.

Steven began his career at the age of 7, programming Fortran at UWA's Maths Department courtesy of his
father who lectured there, After finishing University in 1990, he worked in Chartered Accounting and then
Stockbroking before founding Sanford in 1996. He maintains an avid interest in a range of computing
languages and systems architecture. A consequence of his professional experience, he has also been involved
in a few hundred capital issues and transactions for several hundred million dollars, including raising over
USD$50m for companies that he himself has founded and led.

Steven was awarded an inaugural WA Business News "40 under 40" Award in 2002 and he was a finalist in
Ernst & Young's Entrepreneur of the Year Awards in Australia’s Western Region. He has extensive private and
public board experience, is a frequent speaker at conferences in Silicon Valley, Europe, Asia, & Australia, and
has appeared on CNBC, Financial Times, the Economist, and Bloomberg.

Responsibilities: Mr Goh is Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Qualifications: Bachelor of Commerce and MBA

Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil




Yen-Chang (Charles) Pan (Executive Director) (appointed 8 August 2014)

Mr Pan has had an 18 year business career and is currently the special assistant to the Chairman and Chief
Investment Director of FIH Mobile, part of the Hon Hai Group which is the leading global manufacturing

service provider in the 3C (computer, communication and consumer electronics) industries.

Prior to joining FIH Mobile, Mr Pan was General Manager between 2008 and 2012 of Orange Capital, part of
France Telecom. Mr Yen-Chang has a Master of Business from the University of California and is currently

based in Shenzhen, China.

Responsibilities: Mr Pan provides assistance with new business opportunities.
Qualifications: Master of Business.
Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil
Andi Zain (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 8 August 2014)

Mr Zain has a Bachelor of Business Administration from GS Fame, Indonesia and a Master of Business
Administration and Post Graduate Diploma in International Finance & Law, both from Monash University in
Victoria. He has 15 years' experience in building internet and mobile businesses in South East Asia and
launched the first content provider and ringtone service in Indonesia. Mr Zain is a former board member of
the publicly listed SkyBee Thk (IDX:SKYB). Currently, he is a director of several technology based companies
and runs Ideaboy, a tech start up incubator in partnership with Indosat, a mobile carrier in Indonesia. Mr
Zain is also a founder of MobileMonday Indonesia, a networking forum of 400 mobile centric companies in

Indonesia.

Responsibilities: Mr Zain is a member of the remuneration committee.

Qualifications: Bachelor of Business Administration, MBA, Post Graduate Diploma in International
Finance & Law.

Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil
Dmitry Levit (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 8 August 2014)
Mr Levit has a Master in Science in International Management from St Petersburg State University in Russia

and a MBA from INSEAD in Singapore. He is a partner of Digital Media Partners which is a venture capital
firm within the technology sector. He has extensive experience in the emerging markets internet space and




has previously held a variety of business development and investment roles with Yahoo and IDG Ventures in

South East Asia.

Responsibilities: Mr Levit is chairman of the audit committee.
Qualifications: Master in Science in International Management and MBA.
Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil
John Lee (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 8 August 2014)

Mr Lee holds a degree in Finance & Operations Management from the New York University Stern School of
Business and a BA in Political Science from the University of Michigan. He is currently CEO of a mobile
games platform company based in Singapore. He has previously had multiple executive roles in privately
held and publicly listed games companies in both the United States and Asia. He also was a venture
capitalist at Softbank Venture Capital and has had consulting roles with McKinsey & Company and Deloitte

& Touche in their technology services divisions.

Responsibilities: Mr Lee is chairman of the remuneration committee.
Qualifications: Degree in Finance & Operations Management and Bachelor of Arts in Political Science.
Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil
Yichin Lee (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 8 August 2014)

Dr Lee is currently managing partner of FCC Partners Inc. and was previously the Senior Advisor and Taiwan
Chief Representative of Booz & Co. He was formerly CEO of GigaMedia Limited, a NASDAQ listed company
and remains a Director of several NASDAQ listed companies. Dr Lee has over 20 years of strategy
management and corporate experience across China and has a Master of Science and PhD from Stanford

University.

Responsibilities: Dr Lee is a member of the remuneration and risk committees.
Qualifications: Master of Science and PhD.

Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil




Stephen Llanwarne (Non-Executive Director) (appointed on 2 October 2014)

Mr Llanwarne is a technology professional with over 30 years of commercial global experience across
commercial systems, global investment banking and in the last 10 years, the mobile investment space. Mr
Llanwarne has held senior roles with Deutsche Bank, Bankers Trust and Merrill Lynch in their technology
divisions. Mr Llanwarne was also a founding partner and CIO of Zurich Capital Markets Asia. Mr Llanwarne
received his Bachelor of Business in Information Technology from Curtin University in Perth, Western

Australia.

Responsibilities: Mr Llanwarne is a member of the risk committee.
Qualifications; Bachelor of Business, Information Technology.
Directorships: Nil

Past directorships.  Nil

Chieh Suang Khor (Non-Executive Director — alternate Director for Dmitry Levit) (appointed 2 October
2014)

Ms Khor is a principal at Digital Media Partners, a Singapore based media investment and venture capital
company. She commenced her career as a senior Officer at the Singapore Economic Development Board in
2004 and has a Bachelor of Engineering, Electrical and Electronics from the National University of Singapore.

Responsibilities: Ms Khor is the alternate Director for Mr Levit.
Qualifications: Bachelor of Engineering, Electrical and Electronics.
Directorships: Nil

Past directorshjps.  Nil

Michael Higginson (Company Secretary) (resigned as a Director 8 August 2014)

Mr Higginson is the holder of a Bachelor of Business Degree and was a Non-Executive Director for the

period 31 August 2011 to 8 August 2014. Mr Higginson was appointed Company Secretary on 12 June 2009.

Mr Higginson was formerly an executive officer with the Australian Securities Exchange and has, over the last
27 years, held numerous company secretarial and directorship roles with a range of public listed companies

both in Australia and the UK.
Qualifications: Bachelor of Business with majors in Finance & Administration

Responsibilities: Member of the Audit Committee, corporate governance, corporate compliance and

financial management of the Company.




Directorships: Cape Range Limited
Discovery Capital Limited
Past directorships:  Nil
John Macdonald (Non-Executive Director) (resigned 8 August 2014)
Mr Macdonald is a Geologist by training and also holds a Graduate Diploma in Business Finance.

Mr Macdonald commenced his career as an exploration geologist before moving into the securities industry
with CIBC Eyre's Reed where he spent 15 years as a mining analyst and subsequently head of the research
department. During that period, John gained extensive experience across the full range of minerals and bulk

commodities as well as a strong understanding of project exploration and development.

For the past 12 years Mr Macdonald has been involved in independent mining and resource research and is

currently principal of Green Leader Equities Research.
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Science (Geology). Graduate Diploma in Business (Finance). Member AusIMM.
Jim Malone (Non-Executive Director) (resigned 28 January 2014)

Jim Malone was a founding Director of the Company.

Mr Malone, a Commerce graduate from the University of Western Australia worked for Arthur Andersen
accountants, Hartley Poynton stockbrokers, CSFB and Lehman Brothers merchant banks in London and for
the West Coast Eagles and Richmond Football Clubs, the latter as CEO from 1994 to 2000.

Since 2000, Mr Malone has worked in the resources industry and has been involved with the start-up,
successful listing and ongoing management and development of eight ASX listed and two non-listed
resource companies with a diverse range of commodities including gold, base metals, uranium, oil and gas
and industrial minerals. These companies have operated projects in Latin America, Europe, Africa, the USA
and Australia. Over the past 25 years Mr Malone has lived and worked in Perth, Melbourne, London and

Santiago, Chile.

Qualifications: Mr Malone has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Western
Australia and is a Member of the Australian Society of CPAs.




Directors Meetings

The number of Directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings
attended by each of the Directors of migme Limited during the period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014

are:
Board Meetings Remuneration Audit Risk

Committee Committee Committee

Meetings Meetings Meetings

A B A B A B A B

Mr. Dawson 10 10 - = 1 1 4 4
Mr. Goh 6 6 - - - - - -
Mr. Pan 4 6 - - - - - -
Mr. Levit 6 6 - - 1 1 - -
Mr. Zain 5 6 i 2 - - - -
Mr. John Lee 5 6 2 2 - - - -
Dr. Yichin Lee 4 6 1 2 1 1 4 4
Mr. Llanwarne 3 4 = - - - 4 4
Ms. Khor = 4 = - - - - -
Mr. Malone 1 - - - - - -
Mr. McDonald 3 4 - - - - - -
Mr. Higginson 4 4 - - - 2 4 4

A - Number of meetings attended.
B — Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the period.

Principal Activities

There has been a significant change in the nature of migme Limited's principal activities during the year.
Prior to August 2014, the principal activity of migme Limited during the year was mineral exploration and

project investigation.

With effect from August 2014, migme Limited merged with Project Goth, Inc. and commenced operations as

a global digital media company focused on emerging markets.

The merger has been treated as a reverse acquisition for accounting purposes, which has Project Goth, Inc.
as the acquirer and Latin Gold Limited as the acquiree. As a result, the loss for migme Limited includes the
losses for the following periods for Project Goth, Inc. and the losses for the following partial period for Latin
Gold Limited:




For the year ended 31 December 2014
o Project Goth, Inc.'s loss for the period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014; and

e migme Limited's (formerly Latin Gold Limited's) loss for the period 5 August 2014 (being the
date of acquisition) to 31 December 2014,

For the year ended 31 December 2013
e  Project Goth, Incs loss for the period 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013,

Operating and Financial Review

Summary of Financial Performance

Reported
2014 2013 Change
$ $ %

Operating revenue 1,948,759 2,939,894 (34)
Gross profit 592,286 2,264,641 (74)
Loss before interest, tax, depreciation and (28,343,181) (4,338,803) (553)
amortisation

Loss before interest and tax (28,468,512) (4,520,730) (530)
Loss after tax (28,628,579) (4,658,356) (515)
Basic loss per share (cents per share) (0.21) (0.11) (91)
Cash balance 5,926,090 374,169 1,484

The financial results for the year include considerable one-time merger expenses of migme Limited, as well
as post-merger expenses for the build out of operations infrastructure and market growth activities. The
2014 loss after tax of $28,628,579 includes over $20,000,000 of goodwill write-off and non-cash share based
payments and one-time merger related expenses. The goodwill write-off includes a conservative write down
of all goodwill related assets in their entirety, which would cease to have any further impact in future

periods. The prior year loss after tax of $4,658,356 was for Project Goth. Inc.
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The following profit and loss statement provides details of the one-time activities and expenses for the 2014

year and is compared to the 2013 year.

2014 2013 Variance
$ $ $

Operational Activities
Revenue 1,948,759 2,939,894 (991,135)
Infrastructure expenses (605,467) (489,514) (115,953)
Marketing expenses (751,006) (185,739) (565,267)
Gross profit 592,286 2,264,641 (1,672,355)
Employee benefits expenses (6,240,989) (4,224,122) (2,016,867)
Operating expenses — non merger related (3,405,166) (2,457,261) (947,905)
Loss before income tax expense (9,053,869) (4,416,742) (4,637,127)
Merger Related Expenses
Share-based payment — merger related (2,861,878) - (2,861,878)
Loss on convertible notes purchase (738,703) - (738,703)
Corporate transaction accounting expense (10,841,177) - (10,841,177)
Operating expenses — merger related (1,006,435) - (1,006,435)
Total merger related expenses (15,448,193) - (15,448,193)
Other Income/Expenses
Share-based payment — non merger related (3,837,021) (162,623) (3,674,398)
Goodwill impairment (876,900) - (876,900)
Available for sale securities impairment (123,351) - (123,351)
Other Income 4138 12,037 (7,899)
Realised and unrealised foreign exchange
gains/(losses) 738,365 (34,800) 773,165
Total other expenses (4,094,769) (185,386) (3,909,383)
Income tax expense (31,748) (56,228) 24,480
Loss after income tax expense (28,628,579) (4,658,356) (23,970,223)

migme Limited completed 2014 with cash reserves of $5,926,090, as compared to $374,169 as at 31

December 2013,
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Operational Summary

Revenues for migme Limited totalled $1,948,759 for 2014, as compared to Project Goth, Inc.’s revenues of
$2,939,894 in 2013. Following completion of the merger in August 2014, migme Limited targeted market
growth and development of operating competencies which would directly contribute to growth in users and
engagement. This includes investments in the following key areas:
e talent acquisition in corporate development, engineering, product, marketing and audience
departments in specific geographical regions;
e growth in monthly active users (MAU), which represents a key measurement indicator for the
industry;
o establishment of large scale distribution networks through handset distribution partnerships and
content, artist and media partnerships to reach mass audiences; and
o the addition of compelling content, games and services to the platform.
During the year migme Limited increased its total employee by over 50%, including the addition of a new
engineering team in Taiwan, expansion of our corporate development and marketing teams in Indonesia, as
well as creating audience and content teams throughout the existing offices. These tearns have enabled
migme Limited to create sizable MAU growth since completion of the merger in August 2014. As of the
merger completion date, migme Limited had 5,000,000 MAU’s. As at the end of the year this number has
increased to over 10,000,000 MAU's. Key partnership deals were signed with handset distribution partners,
music labels who account for the majority of all handset and signed artists in Indonesia, DOKU a

comprehensive payment platform, and made several small acquisitions.

Summary of Financial Position

2014 2013 Change

$ $ %
Current assets 6,551,279 458,388 1,329
Non-current assets 646,311 223,507 189
Total assets 7,197,590 681,895 956
Current liabilities (1,604,920) (5,596,879) (71)
Non-current liabilities - - -
Total liabilities (1,604,920) (5,596,879) (71)
Net assets 5,592,670 (4,914,984) n/a

The net asset position of migme Limited as at the end of the year reflects the completion of the merger
between Latin Gold Limited and Project Goth, Inc. and the placement of 40,000,000 shares to the Company's
cornerstone shareholder, Big Build Enterprises Limited (FIH Mobile Limited) which is part of the Foxconn

Technology Group.
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Future Development and Expected Results

The outlook for 2015 is for migme to build on and broaden the gains made since completion of the merger.
The Company will focus its activities on the following:
e continued MAU growth in key target markets;

o opportunities for adding new products and technology through development and/or acquisition;

e large scale distribution deals (potential sources of large numbers of new users), including handset
preinstalls, apps and media & telco partnerships;

e engagement activities through games, ecommerce and media partnerships;

e viral growth in attracting new users; and

e monetisation growth through premium activities, including virtual goods, games, and expansion of

payment channels.

The combination of these efforts is expected to enable migme Limited to operate a scaleable business
model, similar to the models used in China and north Asia, that can serve and monetise the 3.5 billion

people in the emerging markets.

Other than as referred to in this report, further information as to likely developments in the operations of
the Group and expected results of those operations would, in the opinion of the Directors, be speculative

and prejudicial to the interests of the Group and its shareholders.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

On 23 January 2014, migme Limited (formerly Latin Gold Limited) announced that it had entered into a
Heads of Agreement to acquire 100% of the mig33 social entertainment platform through the issue of
shares to shareholders of Project Goth, Inc. and its operating entities. The merger was completed in August
2014 and resulted in the issue of 147,001,367 fully paid ordinary shares to the mig33 vendors. Subsequent to
the merger, migme Limited completed a share placement of 40,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to Big
Build Enterprises Limited (FIH Mobile Limited).

On 28 January 2014, Mr James Malone resigned as a Director of the Company.

On 19 February 2014, the Company announced that Project Goth, Inc. had acquired alivenotdead.com, a
major Asian artist and entertainment management group with a reach of over 1,800 artists.

On 30 April 2014, the Company announced that Project Goth, Inc. had reached agreement with FIH Mobile
Limited to make an initial investment of US$2.2 million though a mix of existing securities and subscription
to the rights in new shares In Project Goth, Inc. In addition and subject to the completion of the merger, FIH
Mobile Limited would invest an additional US$7.4 million via the issue of 40 million fully paid ordinary shares

in the capital of the Company.
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On 5 August 2014, the Company announced the completion of the merger via the allotment of 147,001,367
fully paid ordinary shares and the raising of $8,000,000 pursuant to the placement of 40,000,000 fully paid
ordinary shares to FIH Mobile Limited’s nominee Big Build Enterprises Limited.

On 7 August 2014, the Company's securities were reinstated to official quotation on the Australian Securities
Exchange ("ASX") and began trading as migme Limited (ASX ticker code: MIG) on 11 August 2014.

On 8 August 2104, Messrs Steven Goh, Yen Chang (Charles) Pan, Andi Zain, Dmitry Levit, John Lee and Yichin
Lee were appointed as Directors of the Company. In addition, Mr Patrick Wong was appointed as the
Company's Chief Financial Officer and Messrs Higginson and Macdonald resigned as Directors of the

Company.

On 20 August 2014, the Company announced partnerships with leading telecommunications and retail
distribution providers Smartfren, Spice Global and Trikomsel Indonesia.

On 2 October 2014, Mr Stephen Llanwarne was appointed as a Director of the Company and Ms Chieh

Suang Khor was appointed as an alternate Director for Mr Levit.

On 16 October 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of LoveByte Pte Ltd, a mobile application
business. The consideration payable was the issue on 1 July 2015 of 757,939 fully paid ordinary shares and
399,947 employee options.

On 30 October 2014, the Company announced a partnership with Indonesian electronic payment provider

DOKU for the purpose of delivering more payment options and point-of-sale channels to migme users.
On 18 November 2014, the Company announced collaborations with music and content companies Sony
Music Indonesia, Warner Music Indonesia, E Motion Entertainment and GP Records for the purpose of
delivering a broad portfolio of artists, entertainment and music content to the migme platform.

On 11 December 2014, the Company announced the launch of an Application Programming Interface for
developers to attract applications (apps) and game makers to the migme platform. The Company also
announced the investment of $400,000 into regional games platform developer MatchMe Pte Ltd via a

convertible note.

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year not

otherwise dealt with in this report and the financial statements.
Dividends

No dividends were declared or paid for the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014.
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Significant Events after Balance Date

On 21 January 2015, the Company announced the acquisition of online entertainment shopping site

www.sold.sg (“Sold.sg”). Sold.sg was re-launched in February 2015 and is being progressively integrated

with the migme platform and expanded into key markets.

There has been no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 December 2014 which has
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations,
or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.

Environmental regulation

The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulations in respect of its operations. The Group
has not incurred any liability (including any liability for rectification costs) under any environmental

legislation.
Directors’ Interests

The relevant interest of each Director in shares, debentures, interest in registered schemes and rights or
options over such instruments issued by the companies within migme Limited and other bodies corporate,
as notified by the Directors to the ASX in accordance with s205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the

date of this report are as follows:

Ordinary Shares Options over unissued Options over existing
ordinary shares issued ordinary
shares

Mr. Dawson 1,247,160 200,000 :
Mr, Goh 20,244,238 7,500,000 66,735
Mr. Pan “ - -
Mr. Levit 11,240,174 - -
Mr. Zain 2,116,231 - 550,088
Mr. J Lee 2,899,304 - 1,100,175
Dr.Y Lee - 200,000 -
Mr. Llanwarne 662,206 200,000 825,131
Ms. Khor = - -

Mr. Levit's interest is by virtue of Digital Media Partners.
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Share options

At the date of this report, there are 18,083,887 unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options are

outstanding.

Number of
options

Balance at the beginning of the year -
Movement of share options during the year
Options granted 18,083,887
Options cancelled -
Options expired -
Total number of share options outstanding as at 31 December 2014 18,083,887
Total number of share options outstanding as at the date of this report 18,083,887

The balance is comprised of the following:

Date options granted Expiry date Exercise price Number of options
19 June 2014 31 July 2017 $0.20 7,500,000
15 October 2014 15 October 2019 $0.20 6,983,940
16 October 2014 15 October 2019 $0.363 399,947
27 November 2014 30 November 2109 $0.40 600,000
23 December 2014 31 December 2018 $0.70 2,600,000
Total number of options outstanding as at the report date 18,083,887

No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above has had, by virtue of the option, a right to

participate in any share issue of any other body corporate.

As part of the merger, a trust was established to hold issued fully paid ordinary shares to be used to fulfil
the possible exercise of outstanding Project Goth, Inc. options. As at the date of this report, the trust holds

10,110,412 fully paid ordinary shares.

For details of options issued to Directors and executives as remuneration, refer to the Remuneration Report.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers

During the year, migme Limited paid a premium of $26,775 in respect of a contract insuring the Directors

and officers against a liability incurred by such Director or officer to the extent permitted by the

Corporations Act 2001.
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Auditor's Independence Declaration

The auditor's independence declaration for the year ended 31 December 2014 has been received and

immediately follows the Directors' Report.
Non-audit Services

The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are
satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor's independence for the
following reasons:

o all non-audit services are reviewed by the Board of Directors prior to commencement to ensure
they do not adversely affect the integrity of the auditor; and

o the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor
independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.

No fees for non-audit services were paid to the external auditors during the period 1 July 2014 to 31
December 2014 (30 June 2014: $25,500).

Proceedings on Behalf of the Group

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the

Company for all or any part of those proceedings.

Remuneration Report (audited)

This remuneration report for the period ended 31 December 2014 outlines the remuneration arrangements
of migme Limited in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations. This

information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.

The remuneration report is presented under the following sections:

1. Introduction

Remuneration Governance

Executive remuneration for the period ended 31 December 2014
Executive contracts

Non-Executive Director remuneration

Proportions of fixed and non-fixed remuneration

N o vk wN

Equity Instruments
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1. Introduction

This remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel ("KMP")

who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the major activities of migme Limited, either directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive
or otherwise) of the parent entity. The KMP during and since the period ended 31 December 2014 were as

follows:

Current Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Howard Dawson Chairman

Mr, Dmitry Levit Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Mr. Andi Zain Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Mr. John Lee Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Dr. Yichin Lee Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Mr. Stephen Llanwarne Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor (alternate Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)

Director to Mr Dmitry Levit)

Former Non-Executive Directors

Mr. John Macdonald Non-Executive Director (resigned on & August 2014)
Mr. Jim Malone Non-Executive Director (resigned on 28 January 2014)

Current executive Directors

Mr. Steven Goh Executive Director & CEQ (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) Pan Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)

Current executives

Mr. Patrick Wong Chief Financial Officer (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Mr. Michael Higginson Company Secretary

Shareholders of migme Limited have fixed the sum payable to Directors by way of remuneration for their

services as Directors at a maximum of $150,000 per annum.

2. Remuneration Governance

In line with the Remuneration Committee Charter (“the Charter”), the role of the Remuneration Committee is:
- To review and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and policies related
to Directors and senior executives; and
- To ensure that the remuneration policies and practices are consistent with migme Limited's strategic
goals and human resource objectives.

The Remuneration Committee membership is made up of members of the Board. For the year ended 31
December 2014, Mr. John Lee acted as chair of the Committee. Details of the Remuneration Committee

meetings are contained in the Directors’ report.
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3. Executive Remuneration for the Period Ended 31 December 2014

The aim of migme Limited's remuneration strategy is to align remuneration with the strategic direction of
migme Limited. Fixed remuneration is set at a level that is competitive to the market. Ordinary shares
and/or options to acquire ordinary shares have also been granted to executives to ensure the alignment of
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth and provide a tangible link between remuneration

outcomes with both the Group's and individual performance,

The 2014 remuneration figures below represent the remuneration of migme Limited executives for the six
months ended 31 December 2014 together with the remuneration of executives of Project Goth, Inc. post-

acquisition on 5 August 2014,
The comparatives figures are for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

Post
Equity settled Share
Short Term Benefits  Employment
Based Payments

Benefits
Annual Super-
Salary Shares  Options Total
Year Leave annuation
$ $ $ $
$ $

Current Executive Directors

Mr. Steven Goh 2014 114,188 5,281 - - 322008 441,477
30 June 14 = - - = - -
Mr. Charles Pan 2014 - - - = = -
30 June 14 - - = = = =

Current Executives
Mr. Patrick Wong 2014 83,112 -
30 June 14 - - - - « a

101,135 - 184,247

The remuneration for the above executive Directors and executives are from 5 August 2014 to 31 December
2014. migme Limited had no executives for the six months period ended 31 December 2014 or for the

financial year ended 30 June 2014.
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4, Executive contracts

Remuneration arrangements for executives are formalised in employment contracts. All contracts are for an

unlimited duration.

Name Annual Notice Period and Termination Payments!

Remuneration

$
Mr. Steven Goh 274,046 Severance payment equal to 6 month’s salary and health benefits
Entitled to 20 days annual leave
Mr. Patrick Wong 199,468 Severance payment equal to 6 month’s salary and health benefits

Entitled to 20 days annual leave

1 All employment contracts permit immediate termination for misconduct or breach of contract. All

executive contracts include pay out of statutory requirements.
5. Non-Executive Director remuneration
migme Limited’s Non-Executive Director remuneration strategy is to ensure that remuneration is competitive

with companies of similar size. The remuneration can be in a combination of fixed fees and/or award of

ordinary shares/options to acquire ordinary shares.

Short Post
Equity settled Share
Term Employment
Based Payments
Benefits Benefits
Fees & Super-
Shares Options Total
Year Allowance annuation
$ $ $
$ $
Current Non-Executive Directors
Mr. H. Dawson (1) 2014 34,166 - - 3411 37,577
30 June 14 94,250 - - - 94,250
Mr. D. Levit (2) 2014 - - - - =
30 June 14 - - B - -
Mr. A. Zain (2) 2014 - - - = -
30 June 14 2 - - - -
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Mr. J. Lee (2) 2014 - - - - -

30 June 14 n - - - -
Dr. Y. Lee (2) 2014 12,500 - - 3411 15,911

30 June 14 - - - - -
Mr. S. Llanwarne 2014 9,375 - - 3411 12,786
(2)

30 June 14 - - - - -
Ms. C. Khor (2) 2014 - - - - -

30 June 14 - - = - -
Mr. M. Higginson 2014 42,720 - - . 42,720
(1)

30 June 14 70,313 - - - 70,313

Former Non-Executive Directors

Mr. J. MacDonald 2014 2,000 - - - 2,000
(1)
30 June 14 27,252 - - - 27,252
Mr, J. Malone (1) 2014 - - - - -
30 June 14 18,000 - - - 18,000

(1) the remuneration disclosed is for migme Limited Directors (formerly Latin Gold Limited) for the
period 1 July 2014 to 31 December 2014

(2) the remuneration disclosed is for incoming Directors for the period 5 August 2014 to 31 December
2014

The comparative figures are for the year ended 30 June 2014.
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6. Proportions of fixed and non-fixed remuneration

The percentage value of total remuneration relating to the current financial year received by key

management personnel that consists of cash and share based remuneration is as follows:

% of cash remuneration

% of share based

remuneration

Mr. S. Goh 27% 73%
Mr. P. Wong 45% 55%
Mr. H. Dawson 91% 9%
Mr. D. Levit N/A N/A
Mr. A, Zain N/A N/A
Mr. J. Lee N/A N/A
Mr. Y. Lee 79% 21%
Mr. S. Llanwarne 73% 27%
Mr. C. Pan N/A N/A
Ms. C. Khor N/A N/A
Mr. M. Higginson 100% 0%
Mr. J. MacDonald 100% 0%
Mr. J. Malone N/A N/A
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7. Equity Instruments

7.1 Options over equity instruments granted as compensation

Details of options to acquire unissued ordinary shares in migme Limited that were granted as compensation

to key management personnel during the reporting period are as follows:

Number
of
options
Fair Value
Number of Exercise vested
per option
options price per during
Options Grant Date at grant Expiry Date
granted option the
date
during 2014 ; $ period
ended 31
December
2014
Mr. Howard 200,000 27 0.2047 040 30 16,666
Dawson! November November
2014 2019
Mr. Stephen 200,000 27 0.2047 040 30 16,666
Llanwarne® November November
2014 2019
Dr. Yichin Leel! 200,000 27 0.2047 0.40 30 16,666
November November
2014 2019
Mr. Steven 7,500,000 19 June 0.0429 0.20 31 July 2017 <
Goh? 2014

1. Subject to their continuing service to the Company, the 600,000 options issued to Messrs Dawson,

Llanwarne and Lee vest evenly over the 12 months from the grant date.

2. If the holder of the 7,500,000 options ceases to be either a Director, employee or consultant of the

Company prior to 31 July 2016 and the options have not been exercised, then the options will be

automatically cancelled. These options can only be exercised on or after 31 July 2015.

3.  Whilst the approval for the issue of the 7,500,000 options occurred on 19 June 2014, the issue was

subject to completion of the merger which became effective on 5 August 2014.
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7.2 Exercise of options granted as compensation

No options to acquire unissued ordinary shares were exercised during the period 1 July 2014 to 31
December 2014 (30 June 2014 nil).

7.3 Details of equity incentives affecting current and future remuneration

Details of vesting profiles of options to acquire unissued ordinary shares held by each KMP are detailed

helow.

Financial
No. of % vested in % forfeited years in
Name Grant Date
Options the period in period which grant
vests
Mr. Howard Dawson 200,000 27 Nov 14 8.3% 0% 2015
Mr. Dmitry Levit - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Andi Zain - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. John Lee - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dr. Yichin Lee 200,000 27 Nov 14 8.3% 0% 2015
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne 200,000 27 Nov 14 8.3% 0% 2015
Mr. Steven Goh 7,500,00 19 Jun 14 0% 0% 2015
Mr. Yen Chang - N/A N/A N/A N/A
(Charles) Pan
Mr. Patrick Wong - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Michael Higginson = N/A N/A N/A N/A

Details of vesting profiles of restricted shares held by each KMP of the Group are detailed below.
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Financial
% Released

No. of % forfeited years in
Name Grant Date in the
Shares in period which grant
period
vesis
Mr. Howard Dawson - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Dmitry Levit - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Andi Zain 2,116,231 5 Aug 14 0% 0% 2016
Mr. John Lee 2,899,304 5 Aug 14 0% 0% 2016
Dr. Yichin Lee - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne 508,028 5 Aug 14 0% 0% 2016
Mr. Steven Goh - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) Pan - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Patrick Wong 1,989,718 5 Aug 14 12.5% 0% 2016
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor - N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Michael Higginson - N/A N/A N/A N/A

7.4 Analysis of movements in equity instruments

The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in migme Limited held

by each key management person is detailed below.

Value of options

Granted in period  exercised in period  Lapsed in period

Name $ $ $
Mr. Howard Dawson 40,9311 = -
Dr. Yichin Lee 40,9311 < o
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne 40,9311 = o
Mr. Steven Goh 322,008! - _

1. The total value of options granted in the period is the fair value of the options calculated at grant

date.

25




7.5 Options over equity instruments
The movement during the reporting period, by number of options to acquire ordinary shares in migme
Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related

parties, is as follows:

Directors Options

Vested
and over
and
Held at Executives unissued Held at 31 Vested
exercisable
Name 1July  appointed shares December during the
at 31
2014 on § granted as 2014 period
December
August compen-
2014
2014 sation
Mr. Howard Dawson - - 200,000 200,000 16,666 16,666
Mr. Dmitry Levit = = - - - -
Mr. Andi Zain - 550,0882 - 550,088 - 550,088
Mr. John Lee - 1,100,1752 - 1,100,175 - 1,100,175
Dr. Yichin Lee - - 200,000 200,000 16,666 16,666
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne! - 825,131 200,000 1,025,131 16,666 841,797
Mr. Steven Goh - 66,7357 7,500,000 7,566,735 - 66,735
Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) - - - - - -
Pan

Mr. Patrick Wong - 814,1242 - 814,124 70,475 489,897

Ms. Chieh Suang Khor - - - 4 . -

Mr. Michael Higginson - - - 2 . -

1 Mr Llanwarne was appointed as a Director on 2 October 2014,
2 These options provide the holder with the option to acquire existing issued fully paid shares held by a
trustee.

No options were exercised during the period 1 July 2014 to 31 December 2014.

No options were issued or exercised during the year ended 30 June 2014 in migme Limited.
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7.6 Movements in shares

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in migme Limited held, directly,

indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

Held at 1 July Received on Gt Held at 31
Name exercise of December
2014 Changes(i)
options 2014
Mr, Howard Dawson 1,247,160 - - 1,247,160
Mr. Dmitry Levit - - 11,240,174 11,240,174
Mr. Andi Zain @ = 2,116,231 2,116,231
Mr. John Lee - - 2,899,304 2,899,304
Dr. Yichin Lee - - - =
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne - - 662,206 662,206
Mr. Steven Goh - - 20,244,238 20,244,238
Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) Pan - - - -
Mr. Patrick Wong - - 1,989,718 1,989,718
Mr. Michael Higginson - - - -
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor - - - -
[{)] Other changes represent shares that were purchased, sold or acquired through the merger
transaction during the year.
(ii) Mr. Levit's interest is by virtue of Digital Media Partners.

End of remuneration report.

This Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

On behalf of the Directors

Steven Goh

Executive Director

31 March 2015
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Stantons International Audit and Consulting Pty Lid

trading as PO Box 1908
o West Perth WA 6872

Stantons International Ao
Chartered Accountants and Consultants T
West Perth WA 6005

Australia

Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204

ABN: 84 144 581 519
www stantons.com.au

31 March 2015

Board of Directors
“migme Limited”
13/36 Johnson Street
Guilford WA 6055

Dear Directors
RE: migme Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, | am pleased to provide
the following declaration of independence to the directors of migme Limited.

As Audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of migme Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2014, | declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been no contraventions of:

()  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(i)  any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Yours faithfully
STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD

(Trading as Stantons International)
(An Authorised Audit Company)

-~

Samir Tirodkar
Director

Liability limited by a scheme approved 28 Member of Russell Bedford International @ Russell
under Professional Standards Legislation Bedford




Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

2014 2013

Note $ $
Revenue 4 1,948,759 2,939,894
Infrastructure expenses 4 (605,467) (489,514)
Marketing expenses (751,006) (185,739)
Gross profit 592,286 2,264,641
Other Income 4,138 12,037
Employee benefits expenses (6,240,989) (4,224,122)
Operating Expenses 4 (4,411,601) (2,457,261)
Realised and unrealised foreign exchange gains/(losses) 738,365 (34,800)
Share-based payment expenses 17 (6,698,899) (162,623)
Goodwill write-off 24 (b) & (c) (876,900) -
Impairment con available for sale securities (123,351) -
Loss on convertible notes purchase 24 (d) (738,703) -
Corporate transaction accounting expense 24 (a) (10,841,177) S
Profit/(loss) before tax (28,596,831) (4,602,128)
Income tax expense 5 (31,748) (56,228)
Profit/(loss) for the year (28,628,579) (4,658,356)
Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss - -
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation 918,646 (417,760)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 918,646 (417,760)
Total comprehensive loss (27,709,933) (5,076,116)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (28,628,579) (4,658,356)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the
Company (27,709,933) (5.076,116)
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share 19 (0.21) (0.11)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 19 (0.21) (0.11)

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2014

Consolidated

2014 2013

Note $ $
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,926,090 374,169
Prepayments 120,688 33,071
Other assets 7 504,501 51,148
Total current assets 6,551,279 458,388
Non-current assets
Leasehold improvements and equipment 8 501,586 135,823
Other non-current assets 9 144,725 87,684
Total non-current assets 646,311 223,507
Total assets 7,197,590 681,895
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 1,351,867 2,286,734
Provisions 11 181,478 72,580
Deferred revenue 12 71,575 151,623
Convertible notes 13 E 2,986,589
Deferred tax liability - 3,672
Current tax liability 14 - 95,681
Total current liabilities 1,604,920 5,596,879
Total liabilities 1,604,920 5,596,879
Net assets 5,592,670 (4,914,984)
EQUITY
Contributed equity 15 78,592,668 41,770,202
Reserves 16 8,206,994 5,893,227
Accumulated losses 18 (81,206,992) (52,578,413)
Total equity 5,592,670 (4,914,984)

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2014

Accumulated

Issued capital Reserves Total
losses
$ $ $ $
Balance as at 1 January 2013 41,769,534 6,131,461 (47,920,057) (19,062)
Profit/(loss) for the year - - (4,658,356) (4,658,356)
Foreign currency translation - (417,760) - (417,760)
movement
Total comprehensive income for - (417,760) (4,658,356) (5,076,116)
the year
Transactions with owners of the
Company
Recognition of share based = 179,526 - 179,526
payments
Issue of share capital 668 - - 668
Balance as at 31 December 2013 41,770,202 5,893,227 (52,578,413) (4,914,984)
Profit/(loss) for the year - - (28,628,579) (28,628,579)
Foreign currency translation - 918,646 - 918,646
movement
Total comprehensive income for - 918,646 (28,628,579) (27,709,933)
the year
Transactions with owners of the
Company
Recognition of share based - 1,395,121 = 1,395,121
payments
Issue of share capital 36,822,466 - - 36,822,466
Balance as at 31 December 2014 78,592,668 8,206,994 (81,206,992) 5,592,670

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Consolidated

Consolidated

2014 2013
Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 1,862,669 2,951,530
Payments to suppliers and employees (12,936, 490) (5,527,924)
Income taxes paid (143,246) (15,705)
Net cash used in operating activities 6(b) (11,217,067) (2,592,099)
Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of leasehold improvement and equipment 8 (506,324) (121,931)
Cash from acquisition of subsidiaries 24(a) 9,746,108 -
Other investments (402,405) (29)
Net cash used in investing activities 8,837,379 (121,960)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 7,075,391 2,986,589
Proceeds from exercise of share options 15 11,404 668
Net cash from financial activities 7,086,795 2,987,257
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,707,107 273,198
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 374,169 545,531
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held 844,814 (444,560)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6(a) 5,926,090 374,169

The accompanying notes are part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Corporate Information

migme Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on
the Australian Securities Exchange. The consolidated financial statements of migme Limited as at and for the
year ended 31 December 2014 comprise the financial statements of migme Limited and its subsidiaries (as

outlined in note 24).

The nature of operations and principal activities of migme Limited are described in the Directors’ report.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial report has also been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain assets, which as noted have been measured at amortised cost

and fair value basis.

This financial report complies with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise noted.

On 5 August 2014, migme Limited, formerly Latin Gold Limited (the Legal Parent and Legal Acquirer),
completed a merger with the acquisition of Project Goth, Inc. and subsidiaries (Project Goth, Inc. and the
Legal Acquiree) through the issuance of 147,001,367 shares in migme Limited.

In accordance with “AASB 3: Business Combination” (AASB 3), the merger was recorded under the reverse
acquisition principals which resulted in the Legal Parent being accounted for as the subsidiary, while the
Legal Acquiree, being accounted for as the parent. Under the reverse acquisition principals, the consideration
provided by Project Goth, Inc. was determined to be $12,926,115, which is the fair value of the 64,630,647
shares owned by the former Latin Gold Limited shareholders at the completion of the merger.

The excess of fair value of the shares owned by the former Latin Gold Limited shareholders and the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of migme Limited immediately prior to the completion of the merger is
accounted for under “AASB: Share-based Payment” (AASB 2) and resulted in the recognition of $10,841,177
being recorded as a "Corporate Transaction Accounting Expense.” The net assets of migme Limited were
recorded at fair value at the completion of the merger. No adjustments were required to the historical book

values.
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The accounting for the acquisition resulted in an expense of $10,841,177 being recognised on acquisition
(refer to Note 24).

As Project Goth, Inc. is considered to be the parent of migme Limited for accounting purposes, the
consolidated financial statements represents the financial statements of Project Goth, Inc. with the exception
of the capital structure. The amount recognised as equity instruments in these consolidated statements
represents the issued equity interest of migme Limited adjusted to reflect the equity issued by migme
Limited on acquisition. Refer to note 15 on issued capital and note 24 on the accounting for the acquisition.

Following the completion of the merger, migme Limited changed its financial year end from 30 June to 31

December.

(b) Going Concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern hasis which contemplates the continuity
of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course

of business.

The Group has incurred a net loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2014 of $28,628,579 (2013:
$4,658,356), and a net cash outflow from operating activities of $11,217,067 (2013: $2,592,099). As at 31
December 2014, the Group has working capital surplus of $4,946,359 (2013: deficiency of $5,138,491).

The Group's ability to continue as a going concern and pay its debts as and when they fall due, assumes the

following:

a) the Group's ability to generate sufficient increase in customer receipts to cover ongoing expense

disbursements; and/or
b)  the Group is able secure further investment to finance the Group's operations, if required.
The Directors have reviewed the business outlook and cash flow forecast and are of the opinion that the use
of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they believe the Group will achieve the matters

set out above. As such, the Directors believe that they will continue to be successful in securing additional

funds as and when the need to raise working capital arises.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and
extinguish its liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different from those

stated in the financial statements.

(c) Presentation and functional currency

Presentation currency

The consolidated financial report is presented in Australian dollars,
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Functional currency

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group entity are expressed in
Australian dollars ("AUD"), which is the functional currency of migme Limited and the presentation currency

for the consolidated financial statements.

(d) Clarification of terminology used in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of

Cash Flows
Under the requirements of AASB 101:"Presentation of Financial Statement”, migme Limited classifies
expenses (apart from finance costs) according to either the nature (type) of the expense or function (activity
to which the expense relates). The Directors have chosen to classify expenses using the nature classification

as it more accurately reflects the type of operations undertaken.

Earnings before interest, income tax expense, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) reflects profit/(loss) for
the year prior to including the effect of net finance costs, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation.
Depreciation and amortisation are calculated in accordance with AASB 116: "Property, plant and equipment”
and AASB 138 “Intangible assets" respectively. In addition to this, the Directors believe that EBITDA is a
relevant and useful financial measure used by management to measure migme Limited's operating

performance.

Management used EBITDA and earnings before interest and income tax expense (EBIT) in combination with
other financial measures, primarily to evaluate migme Limited's operating performance before financing,
income tax and non-cash capital related expenses. In addition, the Directors believe EBITDA is useful to
investors because analysts and other members of the investment community largely view EBITDA as a key

and widely recognised measure of operating performance.

EBIT is similar measure to EBITDA, but it takes into account depreciation and amortisation.
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{e) New accounting standards and interpretations

New standards effective from 1 January 2014

migme Limited has adopted the following new and revised Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that

are relevant to its operations.

Application
Application
date for
Reference Title of date of -
Standard e
Limited
AASB 1031 Materiality 1 January 1 January
The revised AASB 1031 is an interim standard that cross- 2014 2014
reference to other Standards and the Framework (issued
December 2013) that contain guidance on materiality
AASB Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to 1 January 1 January
2011-4 remove individual key management personnel disclosure 2014 2014
requirements
Disclosure requirements regarding key management
personnel should be removed from AASB 124 Related Party
Disclosures.
New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted
Application
Application date for
of date of migme
Reference  Title and Summary on Group financial report Standard Limited
AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 1 January
2018 2018
AASB Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards'- Parts A 1 July 2014 1 January
2014-1 to C 2015
AASB Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards'- Part D 1 January 1 January
2014-1 2016 2016
AASB 1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’- Part E 1 January 1 January
2014-1 2015 2015
AASB Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards- 1 January 1 January
2014-4 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 2016 2016
Amortisation
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(f) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of migme Limited and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. Control is achieved when
migme Limited is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee, Specifically, migme Limited controls
an investee if an only if migme Limited has the power over the investee, the exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect

its returns.

When migme Limited has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, migme Limited
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including
the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising from other contractual

arrangements and migme Limited's voting rights and potential voting rights.

migme Limited re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when migme Limited obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when migme Limited loses control of
the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date migme
Limited gains control until the date migme Limited ceases to control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each
component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of migme
Limited and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with migme Limited's accounting policies. All intra-group assets, liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of migme Limited are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting except for the
acquisition of Project Goth, Inc. which was accounted for using the principles of AASB 2. The acquisition
method of accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from gooduwill, the identifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition date fair values. The difference
between these items and their fair value of the consideration (including their fair value of any pre-existing

investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or a discount on acquisition.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a merger is, from the acquisition date is allocated to
each of migme Limited's cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,

irrespective of whether assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If migme Limited loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest, the cumulative

translation differences recorded in equity, recognises the fair value of the consideration received, the fair
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value of any investment retained, any surplus or deficit in profit or loss and reclassifies the parent’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as

appropriate, as would be required if migme Limited had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

(g9) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to migme
Limited and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue
is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually

defined terms of payment, if any, and excluding taxes or duty.

Revenue from the sale of virtual products and games are recognised upon completion of delivery of the
virtual products and game access, respectively to the customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable and recognised when prescribed conditions are met.

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield on the

financial asset.

(h) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of migme Limited's consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying

amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.
Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and
assumptions of future events. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are described below.

Taxation

migme Limited's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgement in assessing whether
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position.
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from un-recouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary
differences are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which
is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits. Assumptions about the generation of

future taxable profits depend on management's estimates of future cash flows.

Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation in respect of the availability of

carry forward tax losses. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there
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is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position and the
amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all
of the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in

a corresponding credit or charge to the statement of comprehensive income in future periods.
Share based payments

Accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions in relation to share based payments are discussed in

note 17.

(i) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the

use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Finance leases, which transfer to migme Limited substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense. Capitalised leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term if there is
no reasonable certainty that migme Limited will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised when they are received and amortised

over the life of the lease.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in the statement of financial position and statement of cash flows comprise cash at bank and cash on
hand.

(k) Other receivables

All other receivables recognised as current assets are due for settlement within no more than one year.
Recoverability of other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be

uncollectible are written off.

() Income Tax
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a merger, or items recognised directly in equity or in other

comprehensive income.
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Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not

recagnised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
merger and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

- temporary differences related on investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill; and

- tax benefits acquired as part of a merger, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition,
would be subsequently recognised if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The
adjustment would be either treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed

goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement of or in the profit or loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when

they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax migme Limited takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. migme Limited believes that
its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become
available that causes migme Limited to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax
liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is

made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or

their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.
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Tax consolidation legislation

migme Limited is not consolidated for income tax purposes.

(m) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax ("GST") except:

- where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

- receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. Cash flows are included in the statement of
cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash

flows.

(n) Leasehold improvements and equipment

Leasehold improvements and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and depreciation.

Amortisation and depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Useful life Method
Furniture and fittings 5 years Straight line method
Computer and office equipment 2 to 3 years Straight line method
Leasehold improvements Lease period Straight line method

An item of leasehold improvements and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-
recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period the items is de-

recognised.

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

value may be impaired.

(o) Fair value measurement

migme Limited measures financial instruments and non-financial assets at fair value at each balance date.
Also, fair values of financial instruments are measured at the amortised cost. Fair value is the price that

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
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participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the

transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

o In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

o In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to migme Limited. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

migme Limited uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data is available to measure their fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising

the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

o Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

o Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; or

o Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, migme Limited
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.

(p) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a merger is measured at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised
and expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortised over their useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are either reviewed at the end of each reporting period or amortised over the
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life of the asset. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation

period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate.
Amortisation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Useful life Method

Goodwill Indefinite Not applicable

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense

category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed at each reporting period to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues
to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as

a change in an accounting estimate and is made on a prospective basis.
Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Subsequently
goodwill is measured at cost and is tested for impairment annually. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a merger is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of migme Limited's cash
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or

liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill form parts of a cash generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the

cash generating unit retained.

(q) Investments

Investments in controlled entities are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.

() Impairment of assets

migme Limited monitors throughout the year to see whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, migme
Limited makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets
and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested

for impairment as part of the cash generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an
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asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash generating unit is considered

impaired and is written down to its recaverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specified to
the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

As assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, except in relation to goodwill. If
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior

periods. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

After such a reversal, the deprecation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset's revised

carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
g

(s) Trade payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to migme Limited prior to the end of the reporting period that are unpaid and arise when
migme Limited becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and

services.

(t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when migme Limited has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where migme Limited expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of

any reimbursement.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and

the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a

borrowing cost.
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(u) Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the

reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries and annual leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits are

measured at their nominal amounts.

Employee benefits expense and revenues arising in respect of wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits,
annual leave and other leave benefits; and other types of employee benefits; are recognised against profits

on a net basis in their respective categories.

(v) Share-based payments
migme Limited provides benefits to its employees (including key management personnel) in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares

(equity-settled transactions).

The cost of share-based payments have been measured according to AASB 2: "Share-based payments”

accounting standard.
Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made
using an appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in
other capital reserves in equity over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled in employee benefits expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
migme Limited's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The statement
of profit or loss expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised

as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in employee benefits expense.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions, for
which vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. These are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense
had the terms not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. The dilutive effect of
outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

(w) Comparative balances

Accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year. Where revenue and expenses
have been reallocated between departments or within revenue and expense lines, the comparatives for the
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previous year and if applicable corresponding balance sheet movement have been reallocated to assist

comparability between years.

(%) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or

options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(y) Earnings/loss per share

Basic earnings/loss per share

Basic earnings/loss per share is calculated as profit/loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings/loss per share

Diluted earnings/loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings/loss per share
to take into account the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been

outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3. Segment Reporting

Based on the information used for internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision maker, being
the Board, at 31 December 2014, migme Limited operated in one reportable segment being the migme

platform operations in Asia.

The reportable segment financial statements are therefore the same as the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4. Revenue and Expenses

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Revenue
Sale of virtual goods and games 1,948,759 2,939,894
Infrastructure expenses
Server, subscriptions and revenue sharing expenses (605,467) (489,514)
Employee benefits expense
Remuneration, bonuses, on-costs and amounts provided for benefits
(6,240,989) (4,224,122)
Operating expenses
Expenses include the following:
Occupancy and administrative expenses (1,167,446) (840,372)
Travel related expenses (792,204) (155,346)
Interest expense (117,661) (81,398)
Amortisation and depreciation expense (124,681) (181,927)
Audit, accounting, taxation and legal expenses (253,390) (649,858)
Software development and maintenance expenses (544,178) {409,590)
Corporate, secretarial and registry expenses (67,282) -
Hiring expenses (338,324) (138,770)
Merger related expenses (1,006,435) -
Total (4,411,601) (2,457,261)
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5. Income Tax

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $

Current income tax
Current income tax expense/(benefit) - 56,228
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years 31,748 -
Deferred income tax - -
Income tax reported in income statement 31,748 56,228
A reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) applicable to account
profit before income tax at the statutory income tax rate is as follows:
Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax (28,596,831) (4,602,128)
Statutory income tax rate of 30% (8,579,049) (1,380,638)
Tax effect of amounts not deductible/assessable in calculating income
Share-based payments 2,009,670 48,787
Provisions and accruals 160,581 50,937
Unrealised foreign exchange (240,739) (6,421)
Other non-deductible / non-assessable items 273,370 (18,676)
Impairment of non-deductible items arising from reverse acquisition 3,515,423 -
Effect of lower overseas tax rates 741,360 19,598
Deferred tax balances not recognised 2,151,132 1,342,641
Total income tax expense / (benefit) 31,748 56,228
The following deferred tax balances have not been recognised:
Deferred tax assets relate to the following:
Tax losses carried forward - Australia 2,382,006 2,280,228
Tax losses carried forward - overseas 13,684,613 10,614,496
Provisions and accruals 144,415 50,937
Other 4,590 -
Total deferred tax assets 16,215,624 12,945,661
Deferred tax liabilities relate to the following:
Unrealised foreign exchange 662,450 6,420
Total deferred tax liabilities 662,450 6,420
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The tax benefits of the above deferred tax assets will only be obtained if:

(a) the consolidated Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to
enable the benefits to be utilised;

(b) the consolidated Group complies with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and

(¢) no changes in income tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated Group in utilising the

benefits.

No deferred tax assets or liabilities have been recognised as at 31 December 2014.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

a) Reconciliation of cash

Consolidated
2014 2013
$ $
Cash at bank and on hand 5.834,526 298,321
Cash at financial institutions 91,564 75,848
Total 5,926,090 374,169

Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
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b) Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Reconciliation of loss after tax to net cash flows from operating
activities
Net loss after tax (28,628,579) (4,658,356)
Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:
Depreciation and amortisation 124,681 181,927
Write off of property, plant & equipment 1,591 -
Share based payments 6,698,899 162,623
Goodwill write off on acquisition 876,900 -
Impairment of investments 123,351 -
Corporate transaction accounting expense 10,841,177 -
Unrealised exchange (gain)/losses (802,465) 32,594
Loss on purchase of convertible notes 738,703 -
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (87,617) 58,668
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (6,341) (41,506)
(Increase)/decrease other non-current assets (22,657) 10,573
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (992,062) 1,657,185
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 108,898 (55,916)
Increase/(decrease) in current and deferred tax liability (111,498) 44,107
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue (80,048) 16,002
Net cash flow provided by/(used in) operating activities (11,217,067) (2,592,099)

Non cash financing and investing activities

The following were non cash financing and investing activities:

o Shares issued to arrangers as disclosed in note 15;

o Shares issued for the acquisition of New Sense Enterprises Ltd as disclosed in notes 15 and 24; and

o  Shares to be issued for the acquisition of LoveBytes Pte Ltd as disclosed in note 24,
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7. Other Assets

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Convertible notes receivable 434,867 -
Other receivables 57,489 51,148
Income tax receivable 12,145 -
Total 504,501 51,148
8. Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
Leasehold Office & Furniture, Total
Improvements Computer  Fixtures and
" Equipment Fittings
$ $ $ $
As at 31 December 2014
Cost 170,150 718,677 74,011 962,838
Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation expense (85,486) (333,676) (42,090) (461,252)
Net carrying amount 84,664 385,001 31,921 501,586
Net carrying amount at 1 January
2014 31,722 87,582 16,519 135,823
Additions 82,191 399,350 24,783 506,324
Disposals 7 (6,714) - (6,714)
Assets Write Off (1,591) - - (1,591)
Amortisation and depreciation (27,572) (87,724) (9,385) (124,681)
expense
Effect of exchange rate (86) (7,493) 4 (7,575)
Net carrying amount at 31
December 2014 84,664 385,001 31,921 501,586
As at 31 December 2013
Cost 96,682 1,649,482 47,658 1,793,822
Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation expense (64,960) (1,561,900) (31,139) (1,657,999)
Net carrying amount 31,722 87,582 16,519 135,823
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Net carrying amount at 1 January

2013 20,107 172,724 23,033 215,864
Additions 30,880 89,384 1,667 121,931
Disposals - - - -

Amortisation and depreciation
expense (11,761) (161,797) (8,369) (181,927)
Effect of exchange rate (7,504) (12,729) 188 (20,045)

Net carrying amount at 31
December 2013 31,722 87,582 16,519 135,823

9. Other Non-Current Assets
Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Deposits for operating related expenses 110,340 87,684
Available for sale securities — Tier 1 34,385 -
Total 144,725 87,684

Available for sale securities are carried at fair value and are regarded as Tier 1 assets for valuation purposes.

10. Trade and Other Payables

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Trade payables and accrued expenses 1,351,867 2,286,734

11. Provisions

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Employee benefits — annual leave 181,478 72,580

12. Deferred revenue

migme Limited users prepay for services on the migme platform. Revenue is recognised upon completion of
delivery of the virtual products and games to the customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Deferred revenue balance represents unutilised balances purchased by

migme users.
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Consolidated

Deferred revenue from sale of virtual products and games

2014 2013
$ $
71,575 151,623

13. Convertible Notes

As part of the merger, convertible notes were purchased from note holders by migme Limited. The

consideration paid was an issuance of migme Limited fully paid ordinary shares. Refer to note 24 for further

details.

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Convertible notes - 2,986,589

14. Current Tax Liability

Consolidated
2014 2013
$ $

Current tax liability — owed to income tax authorities

= 95,681

15. Contributed Equity

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Issued capital 78,592,668 41,770,202
Number of Consolidated  Number of  Consolidated
Shares 2014 Shares 2013
2014 $ 2013 $
Balance at the beginning of the year 72,421,600 41,770,202 72,387,220 41,769,534
Options and warrants converted to
shares 80,718 1,592 34,380 668
Issuance of shares — employees 36,486,068 2,378,875 - -
Issuance of shares — employee share
option trust 17,138,102 - - -
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Issuance of shares - arrangers
Issuance of shares - AlivenotDead
acquisition
Merger of migme Limited and Project
Goth, Inc.
Elimination of existing Project
Goth, Inc. shares
Existing migme Limited shares
on acquisition
Issue of migme Limited shares
to Big Build Enterprises Limited
Issue of migme Limited shares
on acquisition of convertible
notes
Issue of migme Limited shares
for the acquisition of Project
Goth, Inc.
Issue of migme Limited shares
to brokers
Options exercised (i)

Capital raising costs

23,333,333

4,504,504

(153,964,325)

64,630,647

40,000,000

51,498,849

92,378,595

3,123,923

2,752,393 -

553,150 -

12,926,115 -

8,000,000 =

10,299,766 -

624,785 -

9,812 -
(724,022) =

Total quoted shares outstanding at 31

December

251,632,014

78,592,668 72,421,600

41,770,202

(i) On the exercise of these options, shares were issued from the Employee Share Trust.
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16. Reserves

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $

Share options 3,868,687 2,999,583
Share equity 526,017 -
Share warrants 301,961 301,961
Foreign currency translation reserve 3,510,329 2,591,683
Total 8,206,994 5,893,227
Share options reserve
Opening Balance 2,999,583 2,820,327
Options issued during the year 869,104 179,256
Closing Balance 3,868,687 2,999,583
Share equity reserve
Opening Balance - -
Shares issued during the year 526,017 -
Closing Balance 526,017 -
Share warrants reserve
Opening Balance 301,961 301,961
Share warrants issued during the year - -
Closing Balance 301,961 301,961
Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening Balance 2,591,683 3,009,443
Translation of controlled entities 918,646 (417,760)
Closing Balance 3,510,329 2,591,683

17. Share-based Payments

The recognised expense arising from equity settled share-based payment plans totalled $6,698,899 for the

year ended 31 December 2014

Shares held by trustee

As part of the merger, migme Limited assumed Project Goth, Inc's obligations under all Project Goth, Inc.

options that were unvested and outstanding immediately prior to the completion of the merger. In so doing,

as part of the total merger consideration migme Limited issued to a trustee (T Durden Pte Ltd) 10,282,861

ordinary fully paid shares.
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Measurement of fair values
The fair value of the share options at grant date are determined using a Black Scholes pricing method that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the probability of exercise, the share price at

grant date and expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free

interest rate for the term of the option.
Valuation of 7,500,000 share options granted on 19 June 2014

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for valuation of the unlisted options:

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 60%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.75%
Expected life of option (years) 313
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.20
Underlying security spot price $0.20
Valuation date 19 June 2014
Expiry date 31 July 2017
Valuation per option $0.0429

The issue of the 7,500,000 options was approved by shareholders on 19 June 2014 and accounted for at the
effective date of the merger, being 5 August 2014.

Valuation of 6,983,940 share options granted on 15 October 2014

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for valuation of the unlisted options:

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 60%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.86%
Expected life of option (years) 5
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.20
Underlying security spot price $0.32
Valuation date 15 October 2014
Expiry date 15 October 2019
Valuation per option $0.2065

56




Valuation of 399,947 share options granted on 16 October 2014

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for valuation of the unlisted options:

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 60%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.75%
Expected life of option (years) 5
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.363
Underlying security spot price $0.330

Valuation date

16 October 2014

Expiry date 15 October 2019
Valuation per option $0.1677
Valuation of 600,000 share options granted on 27 November 2014

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for valuation of the unlisted options:

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 60%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.63%
Expected life of option (years) 5
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.40
Underlying security spot price $0.39

Valuation date

27 November 2014

Expiry date 30 November 2019
Valuation per option $0.2047
Valuation of 2,600,000 share options granted on 23 December 2014

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 60%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.38%
Expected life of option (years) 4
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.70
Underlying security spot price $0.69

Valuation date
Expiry date

Valuation per option

23 December 2014
31 December 2018
$0.3277
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Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The
measure of volatility used in option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously
compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time. We do not consider historical volatility to
be representative of their future volatility due to the significant change in business of migme Limited.

Summary of options issued
The Company has the following 18,083,877 unquoted options to acquire unissued ordinary shares on issue:

e 7,500,000 options each exercisable at $0.20 and expiring 31 July 2017

e 6,983,940 options each exercisable at $0.20 and expiring 15 October 2019;

e 399,947 options each exercisable at $0.363 and expiring 15 October 2019;

e 600,000 options each exercisable at $0.40 and expiring 30 November 2019; and
e 2,600,000 options each exercisable at $0.70 and expiring 31 December 2018.

The following table sets out details of those outstanding unquoted options over unissued ordinary shares

and their weighted average exercise price ('WAEP").

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Number WAEP Number WAEP
Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -
Granted during the year 18,083,877 $0.28 - -
Forfeited during the year = - - -
Exercised during the year = - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 18,083,877 $0.28 - -
Exercisable at the end of the year 1,349,998 - -

Valuation of 1,092,519 share options granted by Project Goth, Inc. prior to 5 August 2014

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for valuation of the unlisted options:

Item Inputs
Volatility (%) (see below) 50%
Risk-free interest rate (%) — range 2.50%
Expected life of option (years) 10
Exercise price per terms & conditions $0.0409
Underlying security spot price $0.0246
Valuation date Various dates from 19 February 2014 to 31 May 2015
Expiry date 10 years from grant date
Valuation per option $0.019
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The following table sets out details of Project Goth, Inc. options and their weighted average exercise price
("WAEP").

31 December 2014 31 December 2013
Number WAEP Number WAEP

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,725,444 0.34 9,348,339 0.39
Granted during the year 1,092,519 0.04 1,716,788 0.04
Forfeited during the year (380,382) 0.04 (2,319,055) 0.34
Exercised during the year (231,827) 0.04 (20,628) 0.04
Options were migme Limited shares

have been issued to trust (9,205,754) N/A N/A N/A
Outstanding at the end of the year - 0.00 8,725,444 0.34

Share trust

The total merger consideration consisted of 147,001,367 ordinary shares, of which 10,282,861 shares were
issued to a trustee for the purpose of enabling employees to exercise their Project Goth, Inc. options into
migme Limited shares. As of 31 December 2014, there were 10,189,479 ordinary shares registered in the
trust for future exercises of Project Goth, Inc. options,

Employee and directors shares

As part of the merger, of the 147,001,367 ordinary shares migme Limited issued, 9,889,004 ordinary shares
were issued to employees and directors of Project Goth, Inc. to align their interests with the interests of
migme Limited's shareholders. The shares issued to directors vest at the end of 24 months. The employee's
shares vest on a quarterly basis and are contingent upon continued employment or service to migme
Limited. Upon termination of the employment or service, any unvested ordinary shares are transferred to a

share trust. The total of $490,312 was recognised as a share-based payment expense in 2014,

18. Accumulated Losses

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Balance at beginning of year (52,578,413) (47,920,057)
Loss for the year (28,628,579) (4,658,356)
Balance at end of year (81,206,992) (52,578,413)
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19. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent by

weighted average number of ordinary shares during the financial year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated as above with an adjustment for the weighted number of

ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all dilutive ordinary shares.
Basic and dilutive earnings/(loss) per share are calculated as follows:

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of the Group (28,628,579) (4,658,356)

Shares Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per
share 135,418,967 43,452,960
Effect of dilution - -
Weighted number of ordinary shares adjusted for dilution 135,418,967 43,452,960

Cents Cents
Earnings/(loss) per share:
Basic for loss for the year attributable to ordinary members of the (0.21) (0.11)
parent
Diluted for loss for the year attributable to ordinary members of the (0.21) (0.11)
parent

20. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

migme Limited's principal financial instruments comprise of receivables, payables and cash. migme Limited
does not use derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to

hedge risk exposures.

The main risks arising from migme Limited's financial instruments are:

- Market risk (including foreign currency risk);
- Liquidity risk;
- Interest rate risk; and

- Credit risk.

migme Limited uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is
exposed. These include monitoring levels of receivables, assessment of market forecasts for exchange rates

and monitoring future rolling cash flow forecasts.
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Market Risk
USD Foreign Currency

The key risk migme Limited is exposed to is the movement in the exchange rate of the US dollar (USD).

Detailed below are the balances where the principal currency is USD:

Consolidated as  Strengthening Weakening of

at 31 December of USD USD Exchange
2014 Exchange rate rate by -5%
by +5%
Cash and cash equivalent held in USD bank $5,517,272 $275,864 ($275,864)
accounts
Convertible notes $434,867 $21,743 ($21,743)
Available for sale securities — Tier 1 $34,385 $1,719 ($1,719)

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed by generally holding funds in United States and
Australian dollars and only remitting funds to foreign subsidiaries as needed to reduce the foreign currency

exposure.

The Group has foreign subsidiary companies with functional currencies that differs to the presentation
currency of the Group. The financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries are required to be translated from
the functional currency to the presentation currency of the Group, being Australian dollars. Any movement in
exchange rates will affect the carrying values of the Group's assets and liabilities where the financial

statements of the subsidiary companies are denominated in a currency other than Australian dollars.
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Liquidity risk

migme Limited aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount to meet its financial

obligations.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

Carrying Contractual %3 3-12 1-2 years  2-5 years 5 years
amount cash flows months months
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
As at 31
December
2014
Trade
payables 1,351,867 1,351,867 1,300,515 51,352 - - -
Total 1,351,867 1,351,867 1,300,515 51,352 - - -
As at 31
December
2013
Trade
payables 2,286,719 2,286,719 1,608,395 678324 - - -
Total 2,286,719 2,286,719 1,608,395 678,324 5 - -

Interest rate risk

migme Limited’s exposure to interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a

result of changes in the interest rates. migme Limited does not have a formal policy in place to mitigate

such risk.
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The following table summarises the interest rate risk for migme Limited, together with the effective interest

rates as at the balance date.

Fixed Interest Rate

Weighted Average

Maturing in Interest Rate

Floating < 1 year 1to >5 Non- Floating Fixed

Interest 5 years interest
Interest Rate Rate years Bearing Total
Risk $ $ $ $ $ $ % %
As at 31 December 2014
Financial Assets
Cash & cash
equivalents 3,944,894 - - -| 1981196 | 5,926,090 0.15 =
Other
receivables - - - 57,489 57,489 - 2
Available for
sale securities - - - 34,385 34,385 - -
Convertible
notes receivable 434,867 = c = 434,867 = 6.00
Deposits - - - 110,340 110,341 - -
Financial Liabilities
Trade & other
payables - - -| 1,351,867 | 1,351,867 - -
As at 31 December 2013
financial Assets
Cash & cash
equivalents % = - 374,169 374,169 - "
Other
receivables - - - 51,148 51,148 - -
Deposit " ~ 4 87,684 87,684 - -
Financial Liabilities
Trade & other
payables - - - 2,286,734 | 2,286,734 - -
Convertible
notes payable 2,986,589 - = - | 2,986,589 - 6.00
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Credit risk

migme Limited's risk is minimal due to the low level of receivables as migme Limited's business is a prepaid

business model.

21. Commitments and Contingencies

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Not later than 1 year 352,564 106,612
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 215,894 9,278
Later than 5 years - -
Total 568,458 115,890

There are no guarantees issued by migme Limited as at 31 December 2014.
The group is not aware of any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2014.

22. Events After Balance Sheet Date
On 21 January 2015, the Company announced the acquisition of online entertainment shopping site

www.sold.sg (“Sold.sg"). Sold.sg was re-launched in February 2015 is being progressively integrated with

the migme platform and expanded into key markets.

There has been no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 December 2014 which has
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations,

or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.

23. Parent Entity Information

The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial
information shown below, are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements. Refer to

Note 2 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to migme Limited.
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a) Summary of financial position

Consolidated

31 Dec 2014 30 June 2014
$ $

Financial Position
ASSETS
Current assets 9,319,840 9,860,764
Non-current assets 30,348,376 532,903
Total Assets 39,668,216 10,393,667
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 441,941 458,049
Non-current liabilities - =
Total Liabilities 441,941 458,049
EQUITY
Contributed equity 50,284,373 20,884,103
Share based payment reserve 1,174,004 317,877
Accumulated losses (12,232,102) (11,266,362)
Total Equity 39,226,275 9,935,618
Financial performance for the period ended 31 December 2014
Loss for the period and other comprehensive income/(loss) (965,740) (1,019,804)
Total comprehensive loss (965,740) (1,019,804)

b) Commitments and contingent liabilities of the parent entity

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2014.

The parent entity has a commitment of $6,250 for rental of premises as at 31 December 2014.

c) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

There were no guarantees entered into by the parent entity.
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24. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of migme Limited as the ultimate legal

parent and the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Equity Interest

Name of Subsidiary Country of Functional 31 December 31 December

incorporation currency 2014 2013
M3H Pte Ltd Singapore SGD 100% 0%
Mig33 Pte Ltd Singapore SGD 100% 0%
LoveBytes Pte Ltd Singapore SGD 100% 0%
Migme Taiwan Ltd Taiwan TWD 100% 0%
Project Goth, Inc. USA uspb 100% 0%
Project Goth Sdn Bhd Malaysia MYR 100% 0%
New Sense Enterprises Ltd Hong Kong HKD 100% 0%
Project Goth India Pvt Ltd India INR 100% 0%
Eva Advisors Pty Ltd South Africa ZAR 100% 0%
Project Goth Pty Ltd Australia AUD 100% 0%
Westmag Resources Ltd Bahamas uspo 100% 100%

a) Acquisition of controlled entity (Project Goth, Inc.)
On 5 August 2014, migme Limited, formerly Latin Gold Limited (the Legal Parent and Legal Acquirer),
completed a merger with the acquisition of Project Goth, Inc. and subsidiaries (Project Goth, Inc.. and the

Legal Acquiree) through the issue of 147,001,367 shares in migme Limited.

In accordance with “AASB 3: Business Combination”, the merger was recorded under the reverse acquisition
principals which resulted in the Legal Parent being accounted for as the subsidiary, while the Legal Acquiree,
being accounted for as the parent. Under the reverse acquisition principals, the consideration provided by
Project Goth, Inc. was determined to be 412,926,115, which was the fair value of the 64,630,647 shares

owned by the former Latin Gold Limited shareholders at the completion of the merger.

The excess of fair value of the shares owned by the former Latin Gold Limited shareholders and the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of migme Limited immediately prior to the completion of the merger is
accounted for under “AASB 2: Share-based Payment” and resulted in the recognition of $10,841,177 being
recorded as "Corporate Transaction Accounting Expense”. The net assets of migme Limited were recorded
at fair value at the completion of the merger. No adjustments were required to the historical book values.
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Consideration

5 August
2014
$
Fair value of migme Limited
Fair value of ordinary shares on issue in migme Limited on 5 August 2014 prior to
the acquisition 12,926,115
Total value of consideration 12,926,115
Fair value of acquired net assets
The fair value of acquired net assets and the resulting expense are as follows:
5 August
2014
$
Identifiable assets acquired
Cash and cash equivalents 1,746,108
Other non-current assets 688,521
Equipment 2,118
Current liabilities (351,809)
Net assets acquired 2,084,938
Consideration paid 12,926,115
Expense recognised on acquisition (10,841,177)

The net cash flow arising as a result of the acquisition was a cash inflow of $9,746,108, which includes funds
received of $8,000,000 for the share placement to Big Build Enterprises Limited,

b) Acquisition of New Sense Limited

On 21 February 2014, Project Goth, Inc. acquired New Sense Limited. Total consideration paid was $27,658
(US $25,000) and shares in Project Goth, Inc. to the value of $553,150 (US $500,000).

Details of the acquisition are as follows:

$
Cash paid 27,658
Shares issued 553,150
Total Consideration Paid 580,808
Less: fair value of identifiable assets acquired (4,856)
Goodwill 575,952
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As a result of impairment testing, goodwill of $575,952 was written off in the year ended 31 December 2014.

The assets and liabilities arising from this acquisition are as follows:

$
Cash and cash equivalents 1,001
Other assets 3,855
Net Assets 4,856
Purchase consideration — the inflow/(outflow) of cash to acquire the entity, net of cash acquired:

$
Cash balance acquired 1,001
Less: cash paid (27,658)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash (26,657)

¢) Acquisition of LoveBytes Pte Limited

On 16 October 2014, migme Limited acquired LoveBytes Pte Limited. Total consideration paid was $57,195
and shares in migme Limited to the value of $275,132.

Details of acquisition are as follows:

$
Cash paid 57,195
Shares issued 275,132
Total Consideration Paid 332,327
Less: fair value of identifiable assets acquired (31,379)
Goodwill 300,948

As a result of impairment testing, the goodwill of $300,948 has been written off in the year ended 31
December 2014.
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The assets and liabilities arising from this acquisition are as follows:

$
Cash and cash equivalents 29,155
Equipment 7,214
Payables (4,990)
Net Assets 31,379
Purchase consideration — the inflow/(outflow) of cash to acquire the entity, net of cash acquired:

$
Cash balance acquired 29,155
Less: cash payable (57,195)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash (28,040)

d) Acquisition of Convertible Notes

As part of the merger, migme Limited acquired all convertible notes outstanding of Project Goth, Inc. and

M3H Pte Ltd. The total face value of the convertible notes was $9,561,063. The consideration provided by

migme Limited to purchase the convertible notes from the note holders was the issuance of shares in migme
Limited with a fair value of $10,299,766, which resulted in a recognised loss of $738,703.

25. Director and Executive Disclosures

a) Directors and executives

The names and positions held by key management personnel in office at any time during the year are as

follows:

Mr. Howard Dawson

Mr. Steven Goh

Mr. Yen Chang (Charles) Pan
Mr. Dmitry Levit

Mr. Andi Zain

Mr. John Lee

Dr. Yichin Lee

Mr. John Macdonald

Mr. Jim Malone

Mr. Michael Higginson
Mr. Stephen Llanwarne
Ms. Chieh Suang Khor
(alternate Director to Mr
Dmitry Levit)

Mr. Patrick Wong

Chairman

Executive Director & CEO (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appeinted on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (resigned on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (resigned on 28 January 2014)
Company Secretary (resigned as a Director on 8 August 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 2 October 2014)

Chief Financial Officer (appointed on 8 August 2014)
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b) Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $
Short term 685,834 566,113
Share-based payments 3,300,194 -

The remuneration period for Directors and Key Management Personnel includes the full periods from Project
Goth, Inc. and the partial period for migme Limited (formerly Latin Gold Limited) from 5 August 2014 (being
the date of acquisition) to 31 December 2014.

c) Shares: Issued during the year

The number of ordinary shares in migme Limited issued during the year ended 31 December 2014 to

Directors or Director related entities and executives are as set out in the table below:

Shares issued during the year ended 31 December 2014

Mr. Goh 20,244,238
Mr. Levit 11,240,174
Mr. Zain 2,116,231
Mr. J Lee 2,899,304
Mr. Llanwarne 662,206

Mr. Wong 1,989,718

d) Remuneration Options: Granted and vested during the year

The number of migme Limited options granted to Directors or Director related entities during the year

ended 31 December 2014 are as follows:

Options granted for the year ended Options vested during the year

31 December 2014 ended 31 December 2014
Mr. Dawson 200,000 16,666
Mr. Goh 7,500,000 -
Dr. Y Lee 200,000 16,666
Mr. Llanwarne 200,000 16,666
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26. Related Party Transactions

a) Wholly owned group — intercompany transactions and outstanding balances

The parent entity and its controlled entities entered into the following transactions during the year within the

wholly owned group:

o Loans were advanced and repayments received on loans and intercompany accounts; and

o Fees were exchanged between entities.

b) Ownership interests in related entities

Interests in controlled entities are set out in note 24.

¢) Expenses paid to related entities

During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the following amounts were paid to the following

related entities:

Consolidated

2014 2013
Entity Nature of Transactions $ $
Discovery Capital Limited Rent of Perth offices and general 10,764 -
office outgoings
Digital Media Partners Limited Consulting fees 17,509 -
PT Numedia Interactive Provision of rent and service fee of 21,742 18,560
Indonesian office
Total 50,015 18,560

Discovery is a public unlisted company based in Australia. Messrs Dawson and Higginson are directors of
Discovery. Discovery has the head lease on the Company's registered office and the payment made by

migme Limited is for rent and outgoings recovery only.

Digital Media Partners Limited is a venture capital firm based in Singapore whom Mr Dmitry Levit is a

partner of the firm.

PT Numedia Global is a company based in Indonesia that provides mobile and media services. Mr Andy Zain

is a director of the company.

d) M3H Pte Ltd
The following pre-merger transactions took place in 2014 which were eliminated on consolidation upon the

merger on 5 August 2014:
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e Loan to Project Goth, Inc. — USD $7,148,199 representing monies received by M3H Pte Ltd from the

issuance of convertible notes; and

o Loan from migme Limited (“formerly Latin Gold Limited”) - USD $500,000.

27. Remuneration of auditors

Consolidated

2014 2013
$ $

Stantons International

Audit and review of financial statements 66,296 33,267
Total remuneration of Stantons International 66,296 33,267
Other auditors

Audit and review of financial statements 15,722 -
Other services 20,000 -
Total remuneration of other auditors 35,722 -
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Directors’ Declaration

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

a. The consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 3 to 72 and the

Directors’ report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i. Giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2014 and of
its performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

i, Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
and

il There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and

when they become due and payable.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group entities identified in Note 24

will be able to meet their obligations or liabilities;

3. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001
from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the year ended 31 December 2014;

4. The Directors draw attention to note 2(a) of the consolidated financial statements, which includes a

statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

On behalf of the Directors

Steven Goh
Executive Director

31 March 2015
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West Perth WA 6005
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Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204

ABN: 84 144 581 519
www stantons.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
migme limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of migme limited, which comprises the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2014, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the
directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end
or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal controls as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In note 2(a),
the directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal contral relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Liability limited by a scheme approved Member of Russell Bedford International % Russell
under Professional Standards Legislation 74 Bedford




Stantons International

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of migme limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

0] giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2014
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  the financial report of the Company also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in note 2(a).

Inherent Uncertainty Regarding Going Concern

Without qualification to the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matter:

As referred to in note 2(b) to the financial statements, the financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. At 31 December 2014 the consolidated entity had cash and cash equivalents of $5,926,090 and a net
working capital surplus of $4,946,359. The consolidated entity had incurred a net loss for the year ended 31
December 2014 of $28,628,579 and had accumulated losses of $81,206,992 at that date.

The ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern and meet its planned expansion, operating costs,
and other commitments is dependent upon the consolidated entity successfully exploiting its current business to
generate sufficient cash flows through revenues and/or raising further capital. Should the consolidated entity be
unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than
in the normal course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial statements.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 17 to 27 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31
December 2014. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion the remuneration report of migme limited for the year ended 31 December 2014 complies with section
300 A of the Corporations Act 2001.

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD
(Trading as Stantons International)
(An Authorised Audit Company)

S s fnﬂmy’ AolS vy @wé;f S L

Samir Tirodkar

Director

West Perth, Western Australia
31 March 2015
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